

Version 1.0 | Last updated 08 January 2017

# Naval Warfare (USA)

#### By Paul G. Halpern

The United States Navy made its greatest contribution to the Allies by providing destroyers at a critical moment in the submarine war. Its material contribution in terms of mining, aviation and shipbuilding grew slowly and would have been even more important had the war lasted into 1919.

## **Table of Contents**

- 1 Introduction
- 2 The Problem of Submarine Warfare during the Period of Neutrality
- 3 War with Germany
- 4 The United States Navy at War
- 5 U-boats off the U.S. Coast
- 6 U.S. Battleships with the Grand Fleet
- 7 Anti-Submarine Vessels
- 8 The Otranto Barrage
- 9 U.S. Naval Aviation
- 10 Shipbuilding
- **11** Ocean Escorts
- 12 The Northern Barrage
- 13 Conclusion

Notes

Selected Bibliography

Citation

#### Introduction

Historians have often neglected the role of the United States Navy during the First World War. This is understandable given that many more men served in the Army or Marine Corps on the Western Front than in the Navy. For years the activity of the United States Navy during World War I tended to be summarized in either general histories of the United States Navy or in multinational naval histories of the war. The other major sources for this topic were memoirs, including the memoirs of the commander of U.S. Forces in European Waters<sup>[1]</sup> and the commander of the Sixth Battle Squadron that served with the Grand Fleet, the major British force in home waters.<sup>[2]</sup> However, there are now serious studies of the American role at sea in the war. By far the most exhaustive is by William Still.<sup>[3]</sup> Others include studies of the effects of German submarine operations on American shipping<sup>[4]</sup> and the role of U.S. Naval aviation.<sup>[5]</sup> These works offer a much more thorough picture of American operations.

## The Problem of Submarine Warfare during the Period of Neutrality

German and British naval policies made it difficult for the United States to remain neutral between 1914 and 1917. However, the intermittent German employment of unrestricted submarine warfare posed the severest challenge because of the inability of a small submarine to observe traditional prize rules. Disputes over enforcement of the British blockade could usually be settled by legal means in a prize court. Was a ship actually carrying contraband liable to seizure? German actions, in contrast, were final and could result in loss of life. The ship had been sunk, and - given the geographical realities of the North Atlantic - often in conditions hazardous to passengers.

On 4 February 1915 the German government declared the waters around Great Britain and Ireland to be a war zone in which ships - even those flying the flags of neutral nations - and their passengers would be at risk. The American government insisted on the right of its citizens to travel unmolested. A series of German attacks resulted in strong American protests and temporary modifications of German naval actions.<sup>[6]</sup> The most famous incident was the sinking of the large Cunard liner *Lusitania* on 7 May 1915 after the German government had published a warning in the New York press directed at residents of neutral nations sailing in ships flying enemy flags. There were 128 United States citizens among the approximately 1,200 lives lost.<sup>[7]</sup> In the face of the press and political storm that followed, the German government drew back and ordered submarines not to sink large liners, even those that flew enemy flags. This incident established a pattern reflecting the tug of war within the German government between those elements in the military anxious to exploit an effective weapon, and those seeking to minimize damage to relations with a powerful neutral like the United States.

There was another serious incident in March 1916, shortly after the Germans embarked on what could be called a "sharpened" submarine offensive. On 24 March the cross channel steamer *Sussex* was torpedoed without warning and severely damaged; American citizens were among the

casualties. Although the Germans denied responsibility for the incident, the protest by the United States government was sufficiently strong to bring about the so-called "Sussex pledge" on 4 May. German submarines would attack merchant ships only under prize or cruiser rules, not without warning. It should be noted that until 1917 very few American flagged ships came under direct German attack, and few American lives were lost in them; indeed, between 1 January 1915 and 31 January 1917 there were only three American fatalities.<sup>[8]</sup>

## War with Germany

Germany's failure to achieve favorable results in the Battle of Jutland, the long stalemate on land, and German naval assurances that unrestricted submarine warfare would force the British to make peace within a few months brought mounting pressure on the German government to sanction the resumption of unrestricted submarine warfare. The pressure was strong enough that at the Schloss Pless Conference on 9 January 1917 it was decided to commence unrestricted submarine warfare as of 1 February. President Woodrow Wilson (1856-1924) responded by breaking diplomatic relations with Germany on 3 February. However, there was no state of war until German submarines sunk a number of American flagged ships in March. In at least three cases - the *Vigilancia, City of Memphis* and tanker *Illinois* - President Wilson considered German actions as "overt" acts of war, for they involved ships clearly identified as American. In some cases, ships were westbound in ballast, so there could be no question of contraband cargo. Scholars continue to debate, however, how much weight Wilson gave to these sinkings in making his final decision to ask Congress to declare war against Germany in April 1917. Nevertheless the clear offensive nature of these acts and lack of ambiguity - such as Americans traveling under a belligerent flag - provided a powerful justification for action by Congress.<sup>[9]</sup>

## The United States Navy at War

The United States Navy embarked on a major building program, which was approved by Congress in August 1916. New construction over a three-year period was to include ten battleships, six battle cruisers, ten scout cruisers, fifty destroyers, and sixty-seven submarines. It was, however, a fleet destined for a major naval encounter, which did not reflect the necessities of the naval war in Europe. The Navy at the time had only forty-seven destroyers in commission, the type of warship most needed in the struggle against submarines. Upon entering the war the Navy suspended the 1916 program and prioritized the construction of destroyers, building 273 of these ships. Few of these destroyers, however, ever entered wartime service. <sup>[10]</sup>

Rear Admiral William Sowden Sims (1858-1936), who had been dispatched to discuss possible cooperation with the British even before the United States formally entered the war, sought to convince the American government that the Allies desperately needed anti-submarine craft - preferably destroyers, but in practice any suitable craft was needed.<sup>[11]</sup> This meant overcoming the

concerns of the Chief of Naval Operations, Rear Admiral <u>William Shepherd Benson (1855-1932)</u>, that the loan of destroyers to the British would leave the American battle fleet unbalanced and not ready for future possible fleet action.<sup>[12]</sup> Fortunately, the American government realized that the decisive theater of war would be European waters, where destroyers, not battleships, were needed. The first tangible naval assistance to the British came in the form of six destroyers of the Eighth Division, Destroyer Force, Atlantic Fleet, which arrived at Queenstown, on the southern coast of Ireland, on 4 May 1917. They were the first installment of a planned destroyer force of thirty-six, a goal achieved by the end of August. The destroyer tenders *Dixie* and *Melville* were also sent to support the destroyers. The American destroyers worked under the command of Vice Admiral Sir Lewis Bayly (1857-1938), the British Commander in Chief, Coast of Ireland. Engaged first on patrol duties and subsequently as convoy escorts, these destroyers were probably the most important American contribution to the naval war. A large number of converted yachts later supplemented the destroyers' anti-submarine work, particularly off the French coast.<sup>[13]</sup> Admiral Sims was designated commander of U.S. Naval Forces Operating in European Waters, and had headquarters in London, commonly known by its telegraphic address as "Simsadus".

## U-boats off the U.S. Coast

The Americans, to their credit, did not deviate from their strategic point of view that the center of gravity of the naval war was on the other side of the Atlantic. They might have been tempted to do so in the summer of 1918 when the German Navy sent large submarines to operate off the North American coast. The six U-cruisers eventually achieved a number of successes between May and October 1918, sinking ninety-three ships; more than half were American, but almost two-thirds were either sailing craft or small fishing vessels.

Convoys were for the most part unscathed. The most notable event was the sinking in July of the large armored cruiser *San Diego*; sunk by a mine off Fire Island, near the New York harbor, this demonstrated that the war had come to America's doorstep. Indeed, there was even a partial blackout of New York City for a period of time. The important point is that the U.S. Navy did not recall forces from European waters, and reassured America's Allies that this policy would not change. Furthermore, the German Navy was relatively unenthusiastic about these operations. The limited number of large submarines and the long transit times involved meant operations off the American coast were uneconomic compared to operations in European waters.<sup>[14]</sup>

# **U.S. Battleships with the Grand Fleet**

The prospect of a major naval battle similar to Jutland in 1916 may have receded, but could not be completely discarded. If such a battle ensued, the American Navy was understandably anxious to contribute with its most powerful warships. Consequently, Battleship Division Nine of the Atlantic Fleet, consisting of four dreadnoughts under the command of Rear Admiral Hugh Rodman (1859-

<u>1940</u>), joined the Grand Fleet on 7 December 1917 and was designated Battle Squadron Six. The Americans, at British request, deliberately sent coal-powered battleships, as the British Isles had abundant sources of coal but had to import oil. The American dreadnoughts added to the British naval margin of superiority, although they never participated in the major fleet action for which they were designed. Later in the war, in September 1918, another three American dreadnoughts were stationed at Berehaven, Ireland, to counter a possible threat of German raiders in the North Atlantic. Once again, however, they never actually fired their guns in a hostile engagement.

## **Anti-Submarine Vessels**

The war against submarines required a different type of warship, one small and suited for escort or hunting duties. The American Navy developed craft commonly called "sub chasers". These were 110-foot wood hulled vessels of seventy-five tons displacement, each armed with a three-inch gun and a few depth charges, and powered by a gasoline engine. They were far less complex to build and operate than the larger craft, and were therefore ideally suited for construction by smaller private yards. The Americans eventually built more than 400 of these ships. Unfortunately, they were far from ideal for their purpose, as they were too slow to effectively escort convoys. Admiral Sims recognized their deficiencies, but made the best use of them possible. As he admitted to a French naval officer, he did so simply "because we have them."<sup>[15]</sup> The Americans placed great hopes on an innovative method of hunting U-boats with hydrophones or sound detectors. The sub chasers in theory would operate in groups of three; two sub chasers would locate the submerged submarine by cross bearings while the third would execute the "kill" with depth charges. The British had experimented with hydrophones with indifferent results, and the Americans were also disappointed with this strategy.<sup>[16]</sup> The experiments in underwater detection continued after the war, leading to the development of ASDIC (sonar), widely used in the Second World War.<sup>[17]</sup>

## The Otranto Barrage

The number of sub chasers in European waters steadily increased, as did the areas that they covered; by the end of the war, there were over one hundred in use.<sup>[18]</sup> One squadron of thirty-six chasers operated from Plymouth in northern waters. Another group of sub chasers operated in the Strait of Otranto at the entrance to the Adriatic. This was a natural choke point through which Austrian and German submarines, operating from their bases at Pola and the Gulf of Cattaro, had to pass in order to reach the Mediterranean. The British, French and Italians were attempting to close this passage to submarines through a constantly expanding mine net barrage patrolled by drifters and destroyers. It seemed an ideal location to employ the chasers. Unfortunately, while the theory was fine, the results were disappointing. The war ended without any chasers destroying a single submarine. The barrage was credited with two submarine sinkings: one submarine was ensnared in a net and one was sunk by a mine.

# **U.S. Naval Aviation**

The American effort in naval aviation was at least somewhat more successful than the Otranto Barrage. The rapid development of aviation was one of the notable features of the war, and the U.S. Navy exploited its potential. The U.S. Naval Air Service began operations at the British air station at Killingholme, near the mouth of the Humber, in July 1918 and eventually established four seaplane bases and a kite balloon station in Ireland. In France there were six seaplane stations, three dirigible stations, and two kite balloon stations. Additionally there was a large assembly and repair base at Pauillac, near Bordeaux, under construction at the time of the Armistice. In Italy there were another two seaplane stations on the Adriatic. Naturally this growth took time and accelerated in the closing months of the war. The numbers by then were impressive: 2,500 officers, 22,000 men, and over 400 aircraft. The Navy relied primarily on foreign-designed and foreign-built aircraft.

The lack of suitable aircraft slowed the development of a Navy and Marine "Northern Bombing Group" of land planes in northern France, whose mission was to bomb German submarine bases on the Belgian coast.<sup>[19]</sup> The range of aircraft over the high seas was still relatively limited, but in coastal waters they were effective. This was especially true after German submarine commanders responded to the extension of the convoy system by moving closer inshore to attack ships after convoys had dispersed and ships headed to their final destinations. Because World War I-era aircraft could not carry a bomb load sufficient to sink a submarine, aircraft were perhaps most useful in harassing submarines and making it difficult for them to stalk ships on the surface or take up favorable firing positions. Naval use of aircraft therefore prevented losses rather than destroyed submarines.

# Shipbuilding

The Navy also developed a more effective anti-submarine craft than the 110-foot chasers. These were the 200-foot, 430-ton "Eagle" Boats sometimes referred to as "Ford" Boats because they were built by the Ford Motor Company of Detroit. Over one hundred of these were ordered. Ford applied the industrial techniques of mass production to their construction when possible. A non-traditional ship builder like Ford, with yards on the Great Lakes (and thus far from the ocean) was a notable example of the industrial potential of the United States applied to the war effort. However, no ships were finished before the end of the war. The same techniques of mass production were applied to the building of standardized classes of cargo ships. One of the largest complexes of shipyards in the world was constructed on the undeveloped mud flats of Hog Island, near Philadelphia. There was also a large class of so-called "Lakers", the "Lake" class of smaller freighters built in shipyards on the Great Lakes. Their size was limited by the necessity of passing through the Welland Canal in order to reach the high seas. Again, relatively few of these ships had entered service by the time of the Armistice.<sup>[20]</sup>

# **Ocean Escorts**

The debate on instituting the convoy system began within the Royal Navy just as the United States entered the war. The British had already experimented with local systems. Extension of the convoy system proved to be slow, with the relatively ineffective patrol systems continuing at the same time. Convoys had their doubters in the American as well as British naval commands, and even the role of Admiral Sims, long credited with their adoption, is unclear.<sup>[21]</sup> Nevertheless the United States was an invaluable source of anti-submarine craft, whether the craft were used on patrols or in convoys.

The American naval contribution to logistics was also great. By the end of the war there were over a million American soldiers on the Western Front, transported with only minor losses across the ocean. The American merchant marine did not have the large liners found in the European fleets, but the Americans were able to make use of British, French and Italian liners and, eventually, eighteen interned German liners, the most famous of which was the Hamburg-Amerika Line's *Vaterland*. Renamed *Leviathan*, the ship on one record voyage carried 10,860 troops. American convoys, including troop convoys from New York sent directly to the Bay of Biscay and French ports, joined the existing British convoy system. The older warships of the Navy, notably cruisers or even gunboats dating from the Spanish-American War, may not have been of much use in a formal naval battle, but were useful enough for ocean convoy escorts. On the other side of the Atlantic an escort of four destroyers usually met a convoy at the 15<sup>th</sup> meridian. In January 1918 the Naval Overseas Transportation Service was established to run these movements, controlling as many as 378 ships at a time.<sup>[22]</sup>

# The Northern Barrage

In the course of the war both sides laid extensive mine fields in the North Sea. The largest and most ambitious was generally known as the "Northern Barrage." The Americans were the primary movers behind the project, which involved a series of minefields across the North Sea, extending from the Orkneys to the Norwegian coast. The U.S. Navy was responsible for laying Area A (130 miles), the longest of the three areas, while the British were responsible for the westernmost Area B (fifty miles) and the easternmost Area C (seventy miles). The idea was to close or hamper the exit of submarines north of the British Isles. The Americans employed a newly developed "antenna" mine, as opposed to the widely used "contact" mines. A special loading dock was prepared near the Norfolk Virginia Navy Yard for the fleet of over twenty "Lake" class cargo ships that transported the mines across the ocean.<sup>[23]</sup> The American mine force was commanded by Rear Admiral Joseph Strauss (1861-1948). The formation charged with laying the mines, Mine Squadron One of the Atlantic Fleet, consisted of the old cruisers San Francisco and Baltimore and eight coastal steamers or merchant ships converted for mine laying. The American mine laying capabilities were greater than those of the British, with some ships laying over 5,500 mines in a four-hour period. Consequently, they eventually joined the British in laying areas B and C. The Americans lay over 56,000 of the more than 70,000 mines eventually installed. The technical preparations for the project Naval Warfare (USA) - 1914-1918-Online

took considerable time. The British did not begin their mine laying until 3 March 1918, while the Americans did not begin until 8 June. The Americans had similar plans for the Adriatic and Mediterranean after the Northern barrage was completed, but the war ended before they could be implemented.<sup>[24]</sup> The project was and remains controversial. Certainly a few submarines - estimates are six - might have been sunk,<sup>[25]</sup> but whether these results were commensurate with the immense effort and resources expended is questionable. Moreover, by the time the barrage was laid the convoy system had already been effective in decreasing the losses to submarines.

## Conclusion

The U.S. Navy in the First World War did not participate in any major action, and its role has been overshadowed by the hard fighting associated with the much larger military forces on land. Nevertheless, the Navy contributed significantly at a critical moment in muting the German submarine threat, and played an equally important role in assuring the logistical demands of the American Expeditionary Forces in France. By the end of the war, the United States had committed considerable naval and maritime forces to Europe. The time needed for those substantial forces sometimes seemed too slow to the hard pressed Allies. Nevertheless, the scale of the American effort became apparent in the final six months of the war. Much of this effort, such as the large building programs, was of *potential* importance and would likely have played a considerable role had the war lasted into 1919. The potential of American industrial strength was clear and foreshadowed the American naval program during the Second Word War.

Paul G. Halpern, Florida State University

Section Editor: Edward G. Lengel

#### Notes

- 1. ↑ Sims, William Sowden: The Victory at Sea, New York, 1920. Reprinted with introduction by David F. Trask: The Victory at Sea, Annapolis 1984.
- 2. ↑ Rodman, Hugh: Yarns of a Kentucky Admiral, London 1929.
- 3. ↑ Still, William N.: Crisis at Sea. The United States Navy in European Waters in World War I, Gainesville 2006.
- 4. ↑ Carlisle, Rodney: Sovereignty at Sea. U.S. Merchant Ships and American Entry into World War I, Gainesville 2010.
- 5. ↑ Rossano, Geoffrey L.: Stalking the U-Boat. U.S. Naval Aviation in Europe during World War I, Gainesville 2010.
- 6. ↑ A classic work on the diplomatic complications remains: May, Ernest R.: The World War and American Isolation, 1914-1917, Chicago 1966. See especially chapters vi and vii.

- 7. ↑ For a full and balanced account of the Lusitania affair see: Bailey, Thomas A./Ryan, Paul B.: The Lusitania Disaster. An Episode in Modern Warfare and Diplomacy, New York 1975.
- 8. ↑ Carlisle, Sovereignty 2010, pp. 34-35, 61.
- 9. 1 Ibid., pp. 106-121.
- 10. ↑ Still, Crisis 2006, pp. 6-8.
- 11. ↑ Sims to [Secretary of the Navy] Daniels, 19 April 1917 in: Simpson, Michael (ed): Anglo-American Naval Relations, 1917-1919, Aldershot, 1991, pp. 38-43.
- 12. † Klachko, Mary/Trask, David: Admiral William Shepherd Benson. First Chief of Naval Operations, Annapolis, 1987, pp. 57-60.
- 13. ↑ The anti-submarine activities of the destroyers and small craft are covered in detail in Still, Crisis 2006, chapters xiii-xv.
- 14. ↑ Halpern, Paul G.: A Naval History of World War I, Annapolis, 1994, pp. 430-435.
- 15. † Idem: The Naval War in the Mediterranean, 1914-1918, London/Annapolis, 1987, pp. 503-507.
- 16. ↑ Friedman, Norman: Naval Weapons of World War One, Barnsley, 2011, p. 398.
- 17. ↑ See Hackmann, Willem: Seek & Strike, London, 1984, chapter iv.
- 18. ↑ Still, Crisis 2006, pp. 449-457.
- 19. ↑ Ibid., pp. 461ff; Van Wyen, Adrian O.: Naval Aviation in World War I, Washington, 1969, p. 89.
- 20. † Goldberg, Mark H.: The "Hog Islanders." The Story of 122 American Ships, Kings Point, New York, 1991, pp. 3-13.
- 21. † Still, Crisis at Sea 2006, pp. 342-346.
- 22. ↑ Halpern, Naval History 1994, pp. 435-437.
- 23. ↑ Friedman, Naval Weapons 2011, pp. 375-377.
- 24. † Halpern, Naval History 1994, pp. 399, 438-441.
- 25. ↑ Grant, Robert M.: U-Boat Hunters, Annapolis, 2003, pp. 144-145.

#### **Selected Bibliography**

Bailey, Thomas Andrew / Ryan, Paul B.: **The Lusitania disaster. An episode in modern warfare and diplomacy**, New York 1975: Free Press.

Belknap, Reginald Rowan: **The Yankee mining squadron, or laying the north sea mine barrage**, Annapolis 1920: United States Naval Institute.

Carlisle, Rodney P.: **Sovereignty at sea. U.S. merchant ships and American entry into World War I**, Gainesville 2009: University Press of Florida.

Clephane, Lewis P.: **History of the Naval Overseas Transportation Service in World War** I, Washington, D.C. 1969: Naval History Division.

Cronon, E. David (ed.): **The cabinet papers of Josephus Daniels, 1913-1921**, Lincoln 1963: University of Nebraska Press.

Fullinwider, Simon P., United States Office of Naval Records and Library (ed.): **The northern barrage and other mining activities**, Washington, D.C. 1920: Government Printing Office.

Halpern, Paul G.: A naval history of World War I, Annapolis 1994: Naval Institute Press.

Halpern, Paul G.: **The naval war in the Mediterranean, 1914-1918**, Annapolis 1987: Naval Institute Press.

Klachko, Mary / Trask, David F.: **Admiral William Shepherd Benson, first chief of naval operations**, Annapolis 1987: Naval Institute Press.

May, Ernest R.: **The World War and American isolation**, **1914-1917**, Cambridge 1959: Harvard University Press.

Rossano, Geoffrey Louis: **Stalking the U-boat. U.S. naval aviation in Europe during World War I**, Gainesville 2010: University Press of Florida.

Simpson, Michael (ed.): **Anglo-American naval relations, 1917-1919**, Aldershot; Brookfield 1991: Scolar Press for the Navy Records Society; Gower.

Sims, William Sowden / Hendrick, Burton J.: **The victory at sea, by rear-admiral William Sowden Sims**, London 1920: J. Murray.

Still, William N: Crisis at sea. The United States Navy in European waters in World War I, Gainesville 2006: University Press of Florida.

Taussig, Joseph K., Still, William N. (ed.): **The Queenstown patrol, 1917. The diary of commander Joseph Knefler Taussig, U.S. Navy**, Newport 1996: Naval War College Press.

Trask, David F.: **Captains & cabinets. Anglo-American naval relations, 1917-1918**, Columbia 1972: University of Missouri Press.

#### Citation

Halpern, Paul G.: Naval Warfare (USA), in: 1914-1918-online. International Encyclopedia of the First World War, ed. by Ute Daniel, Peter Gatrell, Oliver Janz, Heather Jones, Jennifer Keene, Alan Kramer, and Bill Nasson, issued by Freie Universität Berlin, Berlin 2014-10-08. **DOI**: 10.15463/ie1418.10015.

#### License

This text is licensed under: CC by-NC-ND 3.0 Germany - Attribution, Non-commercial, No Derivative Works.